Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Life Sciences

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/lifescie

# ABCG2: A potential marker of stem cells and novel target in stem cell and cancer therapy

## Xi-wei Ding <sup>a,b</sup>, Jun-hua Wu <sup>c</sup>, Chun-ping Jiang <sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, The Affiliated Drum Tower Hospital, School of Medicine, Nanjing University, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China

<sup>b</sup> Institute of Hepatobiliary Surgery, Nanjing University, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China

<sup>c</sup> School of Medicine, Nanjing University, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 November 2009 Accepted 10 February 2010

Keywords: ABCG2 Stem cells Proliferation Differentiation Biomarkers Cancer stem cells

## ABSTRACT

ABCG2 is a member of the ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporters, which can pump a wide variety of endogenous and exogenous compounds out of cells. Widely expressed in stem cells, ABCG2 is also found to confer the side population phenotype and is recognized as a universal marker of stem cells. Although the precise physiological role of ABCG2 in stem cells is still unclear, existing data strongly suggest that ABCG2 plays an important role in promoting stem cell proliferation and the maintenance of the stem cell phenotype. In addition, ABCG2 is also found to be expressed in a number of cancer cells and appears to be a marker of cancer stem cells. Moreover, ABCG2 expression in tumors may contribute to their formation and progression. Thus, ABCG2 has potential applications in stem cell and tumor therapy.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

## Contents

Introduction 631   ABCG2 gene, structure and substrates 632   Regulation of ABCG2 expression 632   Wide distribution in normal tissues 633   ABCG2 and stem cells 633
ABCG2 gene, structure and substrates 632   Regulation of ABCG2 expression 632   Wide distribution in normal tissues 633   ABCG2 and stem cells 633
Regulation of ABCG2 expression 632   Wide distribution in normal tissues 633   ABCG2 and stem cells 633
Wide distribution in normal tissues   633     ABCG2 and stem cells   633
ABCG2 and stem cells
Conserved expression in stem cells
Contribution in stem cell proliferation and self-renewal
Block stem cell differentiation
ABCG2 and cancer
ABCG2 expression in human tumors
Cancer stem cells
Biomarkers for CSCs
ABCG2: a novel target
Conclusion and future perspectives
Conflict of interest statement
Acknowledgement
References

## Introduction

E-mail address: chunpingjiang@yahoo.com.cn (C. Jiang).

ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporters form one of the largest transmembrane protein families. These proteins use cellular ATP to drive the transport of various substrates across cell membranes including drugs, metabolites and other compounds. To date, about 50 human ABC transporters have been identified in a variety of mammalian



Minireview

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Department of Hepatobiliary Surgery, The Affiliated Drum Tower Hospital, School of Medicine, Nanjing University, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China. Tel.: +86 2583304616 11902; fax: +86 2583307115.

<sup>0024-3205/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2010.02.012

cells (Schinkel and Jonker 2003). Based on the arrangement of component domains, human ABC transporters are divided into seven subfamilies (from A to G). Human ABCG2 is the second member of the G subfamily of ABC transporters. ABCG2 was first cloned from doxorubicin-resistant human MCF-7 breast cancer cells and named as breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) (Doyle et al. 1998). Shortly after, other teams reported two nearly identical genes termed ABCP (placental ABC protein) (Allikmets et al. 1998) and MXR (mitoxantrone resistance protein) (Miyake et al. 1999). Following the cloning of BCRP/ABCP/MXR, the Human Genome Nomenclature Committee suggested that the transporter be renamed ABCG2. ABCG2 is widely distributed in normal tissues and is highly expressed in a subpopulation of stem cells: the side populations (SP), which were first described in bone marrow by their ability to efflux Hoechst 33342, the DNA binding dye (Zhou et al. 2001). Its conserved expression in stem cell populations suggests an important role in stem cell biology. In addition, ABCG2 is one of the most important multidrug-resistance transporters and its substrates include many commonly used drugs in cancer chemotherapy (Robey et al. 2007). There is increasing evidence that ABCG2 correlates with unfavorable prognosis in a variety of tumors (Ross and Nakanishi 2010). ABCG2 may impact cancer treatment outcomes through active efflux of anticancer drugs or other mechanisms (Ross and Nakanishi 2010). Recent studies suggest that ABCG2 may be involved in cancer stem cells (CSCs) (Dean et al. 2005). In this review, we will summarize the current knowledge about ABCG2 with respect to its expression and function in stem cells and tumors. Finally, the potential role of ABCG2 in the characterization of cancer stem cells is discussed.

#### ABCG2 gene, structure and substrates

The human *ABCG2* gene maps to chromosome 4q22, spans over 66 kb and consists of 16 exons and 15 introns. Its coding protein contains 655 amino acids (72 kDa). ABCG2 is a half-transporter, requiring dimerization to become functionally active. Unlike other ABC half-transporters, which are usually expressed in cellular membranes, ABCG2 localizes predominantly to the plasma membrane (Rocchi et al. 2000).

Since ABCG2 was first described in drug-resistant cell lines, it has been established that ABCG2 has the capacity to transport a broad range of substrates. Typical chemotherapy agents transported by ABCG2 include mitoxantrone, flavopiridol, 9-aminocamptothecin, topotecan, irinotecan and its active metabolite SN-38, methotrexate and the tyrosine kinase inhibitors gefitinib, imatinib, and erlotinib (Polgar et al. 2008). ABCG2 has also been shown to play a role in the transport of natural substrates such as 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo [4,5-b] pyridine (PhIP), phosphatidylserine, pheophorbide  $\alpha$ , and protoporphyrin IX (PPIX) (van Herwaarden et al. 2003; Woehlecke et al. 2003; Robey et al. 2004; Jonker et al. 2007). In addition, ABCG2 is proved to be responsible for the efflux of fluorescent dyes Hoechst 33342 and BODIPY-prazosin (Robey et al. 2003). Rhodamine 123 and Lyso-Tracker Green are substrates of ABCG2 when amino acid 482 is mutated (Robey et al. 2003). Several other substrate classes including antivirals, antibiotics, HMGCoA reductase inhibitors and flavonoids have been described to be transported by ABCG2 (Polgar et al. 2008). For protein structure and a list of ABCG2 substrates, see Fig. 1.

## **Regulation of ABCG2 expression**

To date, the molecular mechanisms regulating the expression of ABCG2 remain unclear. An estrogen response element was previously identified in the *ABCG2* promoter (Ee et al. 2004b). However, conflicting data are shown to impact the ABCG2 expression for estrogen (Ee et al. 2004a,b; Imai et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006). Other steroid hormones such as progesterone, human placental lactogen and human prolactin have been shown to have stimulatory effects on ABCG2 expression in human placental choriocarcinoma BeWo cells (Wang et al. 2008a,b). In



**Fig. 1.** Structure of the ABCG2 transporter and a list of its substrates. ABCG2 is a halftransporter, which consists of a single nucleotide binding domain (NBD) and a single six transmembrane domain, functioning as a homodimer. It hydrolyzes cellular ATP to transport diverse substrates ranging from chemotherapeutic agents to fluorescent dyes across a cell membrane.

addition, folate has been found to induce ABCG2 expression, while folate deprivation results in the loss of ABCG2 expression (Ifergan et al. 2004). ABCG2 expression is up-regulated by hypoxia and injury via hypoxiainducible transcription factor HIF-1 and HIF-2 $\alpha$  signaling, respectively (Krishnamurthy et al. 2004; Martin et al. 2008). In drug-resistant MCF-7 cells, alternative use of the 5' promoter due to differential expression of splice variants at the 5' untranslated region (UTR) of ABCG2 mRNA has been observed (Nakanishi et al. 2006). DNA methylation and histone modifications were reported to play important roles in the epigenetic regulation of ABCG2 expression in human renal carcinoma and multidrug-resistant cells, respectively (To et al. 2006, 2008a). Furthermore, To et al. (2008b) identified a putative microRNA binding site in a portion of the 3'UTR and suggested that a putative microRNA binds at this site and can suppress expression of ABCG2. Pan et al. (2009) recently reported that microRNA-328 transfection in MCF-7 cells targets the 3'UTR of ABCG2 and decreases ABCG2 expression.

Cytokines and growth factors have also been shown to alter ABCG2 expression. Evseenko et al. (2007) showed that treatment of primary term trophoblasts with tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) markedly decreased ABCG2 expression. On the other hand, epidermal growth factor (EGF) and insulin-like growth factor II significantly increased ABCG2 expression. When ABCG2-positive MCF-7 side population cells were treated with transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), Yin et al. (2008) detected decreased *ABCG2* gene expression.

Finally, signaling pathways that control ABCG2 expression have been described.

The activation of the Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) and notch signaling pathways which are critical in stem cell and tumor biology, has been shown to promote the expression of ABCG2 (Sims-Mourtada et al. 2007; Bhattacharya et al. 2007). Mogi et al. (2003) demonstrated that the serine/threonine protein kinase Akt positively modulated ABCG2 activity. This Akt-induced ABCG2 activation results from its translocation to the plasma membrane. Takada et al. (2005) have also shown that the phosphorylation state of Akt regulates cell surface expression of ABCG2 in the porcine renal endothelial LLC-PK1 cells. Recently, PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway has been shown to regulate ABCG2 activity in glioma cancer stem-like cells. Inhibiting the PI3K/Akt pathway strongly decreased the activity of the transporter, while loss of the Akt inhibitor PTEN increased the SP phenotype (Bleau et al. 2009). Differential ABCG2 regulation was observed downstream of the MEK–ERK pathway. ABCG2 is transcriptionally up-regulated by inhibition of the MEK–ERK–RSK pathway and is post-transcriptionally down-regulated through the inhibition of the MEK–ERK–non-RSK pathway (Imai et al. 2009). Further studies are needed to accurately elucidate the molecular mechanisms controlling ABCG2 expression.

## Wide distribution in normal tissues

Doyle et al. (1998) first examined the expression of ABCG2 mRNA in selected normal human tissues using the ABCG2 cDNA as a probe in northern blots. Prominent expression was seen in placental tissue and considerably lower levels of expression were found in brain, prostate, small intestine, testis, ovary, colon and liver. Subsequently, an immunohistochemical study with two different ABCG2-specific monoclonal antibodies BXP-21 and BXP-34 detected high expression of ABCG2 in the epithelium of the small intestine and colon, in placental syncytiotrophoblasts, in liver canalicular membranes, in breast ducts and lobules, and in veinous and capillary endothelium (Maliepaard et al. 2001). Using immunohistochemistry and northern blot analyses, Fetsch et al. (2006) observed several additional sites of ABCG2 expression in normal tissues including alveolar pneumocytes, sebaceous glands, transitional epithelium of bladder, interstitial cells of testes, prostate epithelium, endocervical cells and cervical squamous epithelium, small and large intestinal mucosal epithelial cells, pancreatic islet/acinar cells, adrenal zona reticularis, renal cortical tubules and hepatocytes.

Although ABCG2 is widely distributed in normal tissues, its function is not clear. Recent work, relying mainly on the use of ABCG2-/- mice, has revealed that the primary biological role of ABCG2 is protecting the organism from a range of xenobiotics (Vlaming et al. 2009).

#### ABCG2 and stem cells

## Conserved expression in stem cells

The side population phenotype, which is characterized by the ability to transport the fluorescent dye Hoechst 33342, has been identified as a characteristic feature of stem cells. Zhou et al. (2001) first proved that ABCG2 was a molecular determinant of the SP phenotype. A number of other studies in a wide variety of organs have also indicated that ABCG2 is responsible for Hoechst 33342 dye efflux pattern and confers the SP cell phenotype both in human and mouse (Kim et al. 2002; Scharenberg et al. 2002; Martin et al. 2004; Jonker et al. 2005). Therefore, ABCG2 has been suggested as a universal marker for various stem cells. Semiquantitative RT-PCR analyses taken by Zhou et al. (2001) discovered the expression of ABCG2 in SP cells from murine bone marrow, skeletal muscle and cultured embryonic stem cells, as well as in rhesus monkey bone marrow. ABCG2 is also found to be expressed in hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) from human and zebra fish (Scharenberg et al. 2002; Kobayashi et al. 2008). Recent studies have shown that ABCG2 is expressed in stem cell populations derived from a wide range of tissues, including pancreas (Lechner et al. 2002), lung (Summer et al. 2003), limbal epithelium (Watanabe et al. 2004), heart (Martin et al. 2004), testis (Lassalle et al. 2004), muscle (Meeson et al. 2004), cornea and conjunctiva (Budak et al. 2005), brain (Islam et al. 2005), prostate (Pascal et al. 2007) and embryo (Apati et al. 2008). A summary of ABCG2 expression in stem cells is provided in Table 1. Together, these findings indicate that ABCG2 expression is a conserved feature of stem cells from a wide variety of sources. Therefore, ABCG2 is an attractive candidate marker useful for identifying and isolating stem cells.

## Contribution in stem cell proliferation and self-renewal

The conserved expression of ABCG2 in stem cells from various sources suggests that ABCG2 has an important function in stem cell biology. Israeli et al. (2005) put forward that the biological role of ABCG2 in stem cells may be part of the normal tissue regeneration mechanism, probably due to the protection of the small stem cell population from cell death and the preservation of the stem cell homeostasis under extreme stress conditions. Results obtained from the *ABCG2* deficient mouse model suggest that ABCG2 is not essential for normal hematopoietic development (Zhou et al. 2003). However, recent evidence has revealed that ABCG2 plays a crucial role in protecting stem cells.

Zhou et al. (2002) discovered that ABCG2 null hematopoietic cells were significantly more sensitive to mitoxantrone in vivo. This result suggests that the physiological function of ABCG2 expression in HSCs is to provide protection from cytotoxic substrates. Krishnamurthy et al. (2004) reported that ABCG2 enhances the survival of hematopoietic stem cells in hypoxia through its interactions with heme. This can explain why stem cells thrive under conditions of low oxygen. Specifically, ABCG2 binds heme and diminishes the cellular accumulation of porphyins. ABCG2 has also been shown to play a role in protecting embryonic stem cells from porphyrin accumulation during colony expansion (Susanto et al. 2008). In addition, Martin et al. (2008) unveiled a cytoprotective role of ABCG2 in cardiac SP cell populations in response to oxidative stress. Overexpression of ABCG2 leads to the upregulation of cytoprotective factors involved in the oxidative stress response and promotes cellular viability. A recent report by Ahmed et al. (2008) demonstrated that constitutive expression of ABCG2 enhances the proliferative capacity of early human hematopoietic progenitors both in vitro and in vivo. ABCG2 is characterized as a regulatory protein of early human hematopoietic development.

#### Table 1

Summary of ABCG2 expression in stem cells.

Stem cell types	Major findings
Human pancreatic islet stem cells	Nestin-positive cells derived from human pancreatic islets contain 1.5–2% of SP cells, which express ABCG2 and nestin at high levels compared to non-SP control cells.
Human HSCs	The expression of ABCG2 is restricted to the most immature hematopoietic progenitors in human bone marrow and is sharply down- regulated at the committed progenitor level.
Human limbal epithelial stem cells	Harvested limbal epithelial cells contain SP cells expressing ABCG2.
Mouse germ stem cells	SP phenotype is dependent on ABCG2 activity and testis SP in adult mice is highly enriched in male germ stem cells.
Mouse muscle stem cells	ABCG2 is a determinant of the SP cell phenotype and muscle SP cells are probably progenitor cells that participate in repair and regeneration of adult skeletal muscle.
Mouse heart stem cells	Adult heart contains an ABCG2-expressing SP cell population and these progenitor cells are capable of proliferation and differentiation.
Human and rabbit limbal conjunctival epithelia stem cells	Limbal and conjunctival epithelia contain ABCG2-dependent SP cells.
Human NSPCs	About 63% of the cells in neurospheres were ABCG2-positive and ABCG2 levels were sharply down-regulated during human NSPCs differentiation.
Mouse HSCs	Overexpressed in HSCs.
Human prostate stem cells	The SP transcriptome was essentially the same as ABCG2+ and both populations expressed genes indicative of a stem cell phenotype.
Human ESCs	High level ABCG2 expression in the undifferentiated human ESCs, while the expression of this protein significantly decreased during early cell differentiation.
Zebra fish HSCs	zAbcg2a mRNA is a useful marker for zebra fish

HSC: hematopoietic stem cell; NSPC: neural stem/progenitor cell; ESC: embryonic stem cell.

SP: side population.

Taken together, ABCG2 plays a role in protecting stem cells by increasing their survival capacity and proliferation potential, processes which are fundamental for stem cell maintenance and renewal.

## Block stem cell differentiation

ABCG2 is sharply down-regulated during hematopoietic stem cell differentiation and is expressed at a low level in mature cells compared with progenitor cells (Zhou et al. 2001; Scharenberg et al. 2002). The same phenomenon also occurs in human neural, retinal and embryonic stem cells (Islam et al. 2005; Bhattacharya et al. 2007; Apati et al. 2008). The highly regulated expression of ABCG2 suggests that ABCG2 may play a regulatory role in maintaining stem cells in an undifferentiated state. When ABCG2 is overexpressed in retinal progenitors by using a retrovirus-mediated transduction, differentiation is blocked, accompanied by an increase in the expression of stem cell markers and the SP cell phenotype. By contrast, siRNA-mediated silencing of ABCG2 expression in retinal progenitors depletes the SP cell population and promotes differentiation (Bhattacharya et al. 2007). In addition, notch signaling, a key regulator of retinal stem cells is shown to influence ABCG2 expression and the SP cell phenotype (Bhattacharya et al. 2007). Therefore, ABCG2 is involved in the maintenance of stem cells under the regulation of notch signaling. Considering that ABCG2 acts as an efflux pump, it is also possible that constitutive expression of ABCG2 in human progenitor cells critically expels substrates that are necessary for lineage differentiation, thereby blocking stem cell differentiation. However, few studies have directly proved this function of ABCG2 in stem cells and more research is required to unveil this phenomenon.

## ABCG2 and cancer

#### ABCG2 expression in human tumors

Diestra et al. (2002) were the first to report on a large screen of ABCG2 expression in human tumors using the monoclonal antibody BXP-21. ABCG2 expression was seen in all 21 tumor types that were studied, with a high frequency in carcinomas of the digestive tract, endometrium, lung and melanoma. Contradictory results of both high and low expressions in acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) and acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) have been reported, and controversial data exist regarding the clinical importance of ABCG2 expression in these blood malignancies (Abbott et al. 2002; Steinbach et al. 2002; Sauerbrey et al. 2002; Plasschaert et al. 2003). However, in the largest study reported to date, with 149 AML cases, Benderra et al. (2004) reported that ABCG2 expression was a prognostic factor of complete remission, 4-year disease free survival and 4-year overall survival. In some solid tumors such as ovarian and breast cancer, ABCG2 expression frequently showed no correlation with clinical outcomes (Nakayama et al. 2002; Faneyte et al. 2002). In contrast, ABCG2 expression is detected and generally, this expression is associated with negative prognosis in many other human solid tumors such as lung and esophageal cancers (Tsunoda et al. 2006; Yoh et al. 2004). More recently, ABCG2 expression has been detected in glioma stem cells, and the expression level of ABCG2 correlates well with the increasing pathological grade of glioma, suggesting that ABCG2 may be a marker of melanoma progression (Jin et al. 2009).

Based on a RNA interference approach, Chen et al. (2010) showed that the suppression of ABCG2 could significantly inhibit cancer cell proliferation. Furthermore, the blocking of ABCG2 function by fumitremorgin C, a chemical inhibitor, also inhibited cell proliferation via the prolonged G0/G1 interval. These data suggest that ABCG2 may contribute to cancer cell proliferation.

A recent study evaluated SHH and ABCG2 expression in 67 cases of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. High levels of ABCG2 in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma tumors correlate with shorter overall survival and

failure-free survival and ABCG2 protein levels correlate with the expression of SHH protein levels (Kim et al. 2009). The HH signaling pathway plays a critical role in growth and differentiation during embryonic development (Ingham and McMahon 2001). Aberrant activation of the HH pathway has been shown to contribute to tumor development and progression (Karhadkar et al. 2004; Liao et al. 2009). Because ABCG2 is a downstream target of the SHH pathway, it is possible that the high expression of ABCG2 in tumor cells could be a result of aberrant pathway activity that imparts multiple mechanisms of tumor initiation, growth, invasiveness, metastasis and relapse.

#### Cancer stem cells

The cancer stem cell hypothesis suggests that the formation and growth of tumors are driven by rare cancer stem cells (Reya et al. 2001). Like stem cells, cancer stem cells possess extensive proliferation and self-renewal capacity. During the last years, CSCs have been identified in human leukemia (Bonnet and Dick 1997) and in diverse solid tumors, including tumors of breast (Al-Hajj et al. 2003), brain (Singh et al. 2004), retinoblastoma (Seigel et al. 2005), melanoma (Fang et al. 2005), liver (Chiba et al. 2006), pancreas (Li et al. 2007), colon (O'Brien et al. 2007), nasopharynx (Wang et al. 2007), lung (Ho et al. 2007), head and neck (Prince et al. 2007), osteosarcoma (Tirino et al. 2008), esophagus (Huang et al. 2009), as well as neuroblastoma (Mahller et al. 2009). Increasing evidence suggests that CSCs play an important role in tumor initiation, progression, metastasis, as well as tumor relapse (Visvader and Lindeman 2008). In order to cure cancer, it is necessary to focus on the elimination of CSCs. To allow a perspective target therapy for cancer, it is important to identify and characterize specific CSC biomarkers.

#### Biomarkers for CSCs

Two general approaches have been used to identify CSCs. The first one tracks surface markers that identify putative normal stem cells. For example, pancreatic and hepatic CSCs are marked by CD44+ CD24+ESA+ (Li et al. 2007) and CD133+ (Ma et al. 2007), respectively. The second one uses the flow cytometry-based side population technique. Side population cells within tumors have been suggested to be a novel approach to isolate CSCs as it is enriched in normal stem cells. Recent work has shown that SP cells selected from different tumor cell lines and specimens have higher tumorigenicity in immunodeficiency mice, higher colony-forming efficiency and proliferation capacity, compared to non-SP cells (Hirschmann-Jax et al. 2004; Haraguchi et al. 2006; Kruger et al. 2006; Ho et al. 2007; Huang et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2009). SP cells also show higher chemoresistance to conventional antitumor agents such as doxorubicin and methotrexate when compared with non-SP cells. Together, these findings indicate that SP is enriched with CSCs. However, there are some limitations to this approach. First, the side population does not represent all the cancer stem cells and contains both cancer stem cells and non-cancer stem cells. Moreover, Hoechst 33342, which is used for isolating SP, is toxic to many cells. Thus, the comparison of SP and non-SP is not precise.

#### ABCG2: a novel target

Taking into account that the SP phenotype is mainly mediated by ABCG2 and the conserved expression of ABCG2 in stem cells, it is conceivable that ABCG2 may serve as a novel biomarker of CSCs. Since ABCG2 functions as a high capacity transporter with a wide range of substrates including various chemotherapy drugs, it has been shown to participate in the multidrug resistance of tumors and lead to a limitation of chemotherapeutics (Robey et al. 2007). Intriguingly, CSCs are also supposed to be responsible for the acquisition of multi-drug chemoresistance and lead to the cancer relapse. Side population

and chemoresistance suggest a close link between ABCG2 and CSCs. ABCG2 + tumor cells may hence represent a unique population of CSCs. The expression of this chemoresistant efflux transporter in CSC populations would confer these cells intrinsic resistance to many commonly used antitumor agents and may be the root cause of tumor recurrence.

Elevated expression of ABCG2 has been observed in a number of putative CSCs from retinoblastoma (Seigel et al. 2005), lung (Ho et al. 2007), liver (Shi et al. 2008) and pancreas cancer (Wang et al. 2009). In addition, ABCG2 and CD133, the widely identified CSC marker, are co-expressed in melanoma and pancreatic carcinoma cell lines (Monzani et al. 2007; Olempska 2007). Recently, Zen et al. (2007) reported ABCG2+ cells could be purified from human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cell lines. ABCG2+ population showed evidence for self-renewal, generating both ABCG2+ and ABCG2- progenies during subculture, and a higher proliferative activity. Moreover, other progenitor cell markers including cytokeratin 19 and alphafetoprotein were mainly expressed in ABCG2+ subpopulations. This study suggests that cancer cells with ABCG2 expression might play a central role in hepatocarcinogenesis and the maintenance of the cancer cell hierarchy of human HCC. Our group has already detected high expression of ABCG2 in HCC tissues (Xi et al. 2009) and we are now studying the possible role of ABCG2 in HCC development and progression.

Together, these data suggest that ABCG2 may serve as a promising biomarker for the identification CSCs in tumors. New therapeutic strategies targeting ABCG2+ positive CSCs may effectively eliminate CSCs and overcome current chemotherapeutic limitations.

#### **Conclusion and future perspectives**

Because of its extensive expression in stem cells, ABCG2 has gained instant attention from researchers exploring its potential role in stem cell developmental biology. With conserved expression in stem cells, ABCG2 may serve as a universal marker to identify and isolate stem cells from various tissues. In addition, ABCG2 exhibits a special effect in promoting proliferation and blocking differentiation of stem cells which reveals a potential application in stem cell based therapies. Finally, ABCG2 may also have an important biological role in tumors and serve as a potential molecular marker for the further characterization of CSCs. The further characterization of ABCG2 will open up a new avenue in stem cell and tumor therapy.

#### **Conflict of interest statement**

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

## Acknowledgement

This study is supported by the Nanjing Science Foundation of China (No: ZKX08025).

#### References

- Abbott BL, Colapietro AM, Barnes Y, Marini F, Andreeff M, Sorrentino BP. Low levels of ABCG2 expression in adult AML blast samples. Blood 100 (13), 4594–4601, 2002.
- Ahmed F, Arseni N, Glimm H, Hiddemann W, Buske C, Feuring-Buske M. Constitutive expression of the ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCG2 enhances the growth potential of early human hematopoietic progenitors. Stem Cells 26 (3), 810–818, 2008.
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100 (7), 3983–3988, 2003.
- Allikmets R, Schriml LM, Hutchinson A, Romano-Spica V, Dean M. A human placentaspecific ATP-binding cassette gene (ABCP) on chromosome 4q22 that is involved in multidrug resistance. Cancer Research 58 (23), 5337–5339, 1998.
- Apati A, Orban TI, Varga N, Nemeth A, Schamberger A, Krizsik V, Erdelyi-Belle B, Homolya L, Varady G, Padanyi R, Karaszi E, Kemna EW, Nemet K, Sarkadi B. High level functional expression of the ABCG2 multidrug transporter in undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1778 (12), 2700–2709, 2008.

- Benderra Z, Faussat AM, Sayada L, Perrot JY, Chaoui D, Marie JP, Legrand O. Breast cancer resistance protein and P-glycoprotein in 149 adult acute myeloid leukemias. Clinical Cancer Research 10 (23), 7896–7902, 2004.
- Bhattacharya S, Das A, Mallya K, Ahmad I. Maintenance of retinal stem cells by Abcg2 is regulated by notch signaling. Journal of Cell Science 120 (Pt 15), 2652–2662, 2007.
- Bleau AM, Hambardzumyan D, Ozawa T, Fomchenko EI, Huse JT, Brennan CW, Holland EC. PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway regulates the side population phenotype and ABCG2 activity in glioma tumor stem-like cells. Cell Stem Cell 4 (3), 226–235, 2009.
- Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nature Medicine 3 (7), 730–737, 1997.
- Budak MT, Alpdogan OS, Zhou M, Lavker RM, Akinci MA, Wolosin JM. Ocular surface epithelia contain ABCG2-dependent side population cells exhibiting features associated with stem cells. Journal of Cell Science 118 (Pt 8), 1715–1724, 2005.
- Chen Z, Liu F, Ren Q, Zhao Q, Ren H, Lu S, Zhang L, Han Z. Suppression of ABCG2 inhibits cancer cell proliferation. International Journal of Cancer 126 (4), 841–851, 2010.
- Chiba T, Kita K, Zheng YW, Yokosuka O, Saisho H, Iwama A, Nakauchi H, Taniguchi H. Side population purified from hepatocellular carcinoma cells harbors cancer stem cell-like properties. Hepatology 44 (1), 240–251, 2006.
- Dean M, Fojo T, Bates S. Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. Nature Reviews Cancer 5 (4), 275–284, 2005.
- Diestra JE, Scheffer GL, Catala I, Maliepaard M, Schellens JH, Scheper RJ, Germa-Lluch JR, Izquierdo MA. Frequent expression of the multi-drug resistance-associated protein BCRP/MXR/ABCP/ABCG2 in human tumours detected by the BXP-21 monoclonal antibody in paraffin-embedded material. Journal of Pathology 198 (2), 213–219, 2002.
- Doyle LA, Yang WD, Abruzzo LV, Krogmann T, Gao YM, Rishi AK, Ross DD. A multidrug resistance transporter from human MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95 (26), 15665–15670, 1998.
- Ee P, He XL, Ross DD, Beck WT. Modulation of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ ABCG2) gene expression using RNA interference. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics 3 (12), 1577–1583, 2004a.
- Ee P, Kamalakaran S, Tonetti D, He XL, Ross DD, Beck WT. Identification of a novel estrogen response element in the breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2) gene. Cancer Research 64 (4) 1247-125, 2004b.
- Evseenko DA, Paxton JW, Keelan JA. Independent regulation of apical and basolateral drug transporter expression and function in placental trophoblasts by cytokines, steroids, and growth factors. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 35 (4), 595–601, 2007.
- Faneyte IF, Kristel PM, Maliepaard M, Scheffer GL, Scheper RJ, Schellens JH, van de Vijver MJ. Expression of the breast cancer resistance protein in breast cancer. Clinical Cancer Research 8 (4), 1068–1074, 2002.
- Fang D, Nguyen TK, Leishear K, Finko R, Kulp AN, Hotz S, Van Belle PA, Xu XW, Elder DE, Herlyn M. A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. Cancer Research 65 (20), 9328–9337, 2005.
- Fetsch PA, Abati A, Litman T, Morisaki K, Honjo Y, Mittal K, Bates SE. Localization of the ABCG2 mitoxantrone resistance-associated protein in normal tissues. Cancer Letters 235 (1), 84–92, 2006.
- Haraguchi N, Utsunomiya T, Inoue H, Tanaka F, Mimori K, Barnard GF, Mori M. Characterization of a side population of cancer cells from human gastrointestinal system. Stem Cells 24 (3), 506–513, 2006.
- Hirschmann-Jax C, Foster AE, Wulf GG, Nuchtern JG, Jax TW, Gobel U, Goodell MA, Brenner MK. A distinct "side population" of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101 (39), 14228–14233, 2004.
- Ho MM, Ng AV, Lam S, Hung JY. Side population in human lung cancer cell lines and tumors is enriched with stem-like cancer cells. Cancer Research 67 (10), 4827–4833, 2007.
- Huang D, Gao Q, Guo L, Zhang C, Jiang W, Li H, Wang J, Han X, Shi Y, Lu SH. Isolation and identification of cancer stem-like cells in esophageal carcinoma cell lines. Stem Cells and Development 18 (3), 465–473, 2009.
- Ifergan I, Shafran A, Jansen G, Hooijberg JH, Scheffer GL, Assaraf YG. Folate deprivation results in the loss of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) expression. A role for BCRP in cellular folate homeostasis. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 279 (24), 25527–25534, 2004.
- Imai Y, Ishikawa E, Asada S, Sugimoto Y. Estrogen-mediated post transcriptional downregulation of breast cancer resistance protein/ABCG2. Cancer Research 65 (2), 596–604, 2005.
- Imai Y, Ohmori K, Yasuda S, Wada M, Suzuki T, Fukuda K, Ueda Y. Breast cancer resistance protein/ABCG2 is differentially regulated downstream of extracellular signal-regulated kinase. Cancer Science 100 (6), 1118–1127, 2009.
- Ingham PW, McMahon AP. Hedgehog signaling in animal development: paradigms and principles. Genes and Development 15 (23), 3059–3087, 2001.
- Islam MO, Kanemura Y, Tajria J, Mori H, Kobayashi S, Hara M, Yamasaki M, Okano H, Miyake J. Functional expression of ABCG2 transporter in human neural stem/ progenitor cells. Neuroscience Research 52 (1), 75–82, 2005.
- Israeli D, Ziaei S, Gonin P, Garcia L. A proposal for the physiological significance of mdr1 and Bcrp1/Abcg2 gene expression in normal tissue regeneration and after cancer therapy. Journal of Theoretical Biology 232 (1), 41–45, 2005.
- Jin Y, Bin ZQ, Qiang H, Liang C, Hua C, Jun D, Dong WA, Qing L. ABCG2 is related with the grade of glioma and resistance to mitoxantone, a chemotherapeutic drug for glioma. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology 135 (10), 1369–1376, 2009.
- Jonker JW, Freeman J, Bolscher E, Musters S, Alvi AJ, Titley I, Schinkel AH, Dale TC. Contribution of the ABC transporters Bcrp1 and Mdr1a/1b to the side population phenotype in mammary gland and bone marrow of mice. Stem Cells 23 (8), 1059–1065, 2005.

- Jonker JW, Musters S, Vlaming M, Plosch T, Gooijert K, Hillebrand MJ, Rosing H, Beijnen JH, Verkade HJ, Schinkel AH. Breast cancer resistance protein (Bcrp1/Abcg2) is expressed in the harderian gland and mediates transport of conjugated protoporphyrin IX. American Journal of Physiology – Cell Physiology 292 (6), C2204–C2212, 2007.
- Karhadkar SS, Bova GS, Abdallah N, Dhara S, Gardner D, Maitra A, Isaacs JT, Berman DM, Beachy PA. Hedgehog signalling in prostate regeneration, neoplasia and metastasis. Nature 431 (7009), 707–712, 2004.
- Kim M, Turnquist H, Jackson J, Sgagias M, Yan Y, Gong M, Dean M, Sharp JG, Cowan K. The multidrug resistance transporter ABCG2 (breast cancer resistance protein 1) effluxes Hoechst 33342 and is overexpressed in hematopoietic stem cells. Clinical Cancer Research 8 (1), 22–28, 2002.
- Kim JE, Singh RR, Cho-Vega JH, Drakos E, Davuluri Y, Khokhar FA, Fayad L, Medeiros LJ, Vega F. Sonic hedgehog signaling proteins and ATP-binding cassette G2 are aberrantly expressed in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Modern Pathology 22 (10), 1312–1320, 2009.
- Kobayashi I, Saito K, Moritomo T, Araki K, Takizawa F, Nakanishi T. Characterization and localization of side population (SP) cells in zebrafish kidney hematopoietic tissue. Blood 111 (3), 1131–1137, 2008.
- Krishnamurthy P, Ross DD, Nakanishi T, Bailey-Dell K, Zhou S, Mercer KE, Sarkadi B, Sorrentino BP, Schuetz JD. The stem cell marker Bcrp/ABCG2 enhances hypoxic cell survival through interactions with heme. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 279 (23), 24218–24225, 2004.
- Kruger JA, Kaplan CD, Luo Y, Zhou H, Markowitz D, Xiang R, Reisfeld RA. Characterization of stem cell-like cancer cells in immune-competent mice. Blood 108 (12), 3906–3912, 2006.
- Lassalle B, Bastos H, Louis JP, Riou L, Testart J, Dutrillaux B, Fouchet P, Allemand I. 'Side Population' cells in adult mouse testis express Bcrp1 gene and are enriched in spermatogonia and germinal stem cells. Development 131 (2), 479–487, 2004.
- Lechner A, Leech CA, Abraham EJ, Nolan AL, Habener JF. Nestin-positive progenitor cells derived from adult human pancreatic islets of Langerhans contain side population (SP) cells defined by expression of the ABCG2 (BCRP1) ATP-binding cassette transporter. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 293 (2), 670–674, 2002.
- Li CW, Heidt DG, Dalerba P, Burant CF, Zhang LJ, Adsay V, Wicha M, Clarke MF, Simeone DM. Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Research 67 (3), 1030–1037, 2007.
- Liao X, Siu MK, Au CW, Wong ES, Chan HY, Ip PP, Ngan HY, Cheung AN. Aberrant activation of hedgehog signaling pathway in ovarian cancers: effect on prognosis, cell invasion and differentiation. Carcinogenesis 30 (1), 131–140, 2009.
- Ma S, Chan KW, Hu L, Lee TK, Wo JY, Ng IO, Zheng BJ, Guan XY. Identification and characterization of tumorigenic liver cancer stem/progenitor cells. Gastroenterology 132 (7), 2542–2556, 2007.
- Mahller YY, Williams JP, Baird WH, Mitton B, Grossheim J, Saeki Y, Cancelas JA, Ratner N, Cripe TP. Neuroblastoma cell lines contain pluripotent tumor initiating cells that are susceptible to a targeted oncolytic virus. PLoS One 4 (1), e4235, 2009.
- Maliepaard M, Scheffer GL, Faneyte IF, van Gastelen MA, Pijnenborg AC, Schinkel AH, van De Vijver MJ, Scheper RJ, Schellens JH. Subcellular localization and distribution of the breast cancer resistance protein transporter in normal human tissues. Cancer Research 61 (8), 3458–3464, 2001.
- Martin CM, Meeson AP, Robertson SM, Hawke TJ, Richardson JA, Bates S, Goetsch SC, Gallardo TD, Garry DJ. Persistent expression of the ATP-binding cassette transporter, Abcg2, identifies cardiac SP cells in the developing and adult heart. Developmental Biology 265 (1), 262–275, 2004.
- Martin CM, Ferdous A, Gallardo T, Humphries C, Sadek H, Caprioli A, Garcia JA, Szweda LI, Garry MG, Garry DJ. Hypoxia-inducible factor-2 alpha transactivates Abcg2 and promotes cytoprotection in cardiac side population cells. Circulation Research 102 (9), 1075–1081, 2008.
- Meeson AP, Hawke TJ, Graham S, Jiang N, Elterman J, Hutcheson K, Dimaio JM, Gallardo TD, Garry DJ. Cellular and molecular regulation of skeletal muscle side population cells. Stem Cells 22 (7), 1305–1320, 2004.
- Miyake K, Mickley L, Litman T, Zhan ZR, Robey R, Cristensen B, Brangi M, Greenberger L, Dean M, Fojo T, Bates SE. Molecular cloning of cDNAs which are highly overexpressed in mitoxantrone-resistant cells: demonstration of homology to ABC transport genes. Cancer Research 59 (1), 8–13, 1999.
- Mogi M, Yang J, Lambert JF, Colvin GA, Shiojima I, Skurk C, Summer R, Fine A, Quesenberry PJ, Walsh K. Akt signaling regulates side population cell phenotype via Bcrp1 translocation. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 278 (40), 39068–39075, 2003.
- Monzani E, Facchetti F, Galmozzi E, Corsini E, Benetti A, Cavazzin C, Gritti A, Piccinini A, Porro D, Santinami M, Invernici G, Parati E, Alessandri G, Alessandri G, La Porta CAM. Melanoma contains CD133 and ABCG2 positive cells with enhanced tumourigenic potential. European Journal of Cancer 43 (5), 935–946, 2007.
- Nakanishi T, Bailey-Dell KJ, Hassel BA, Shiozawa K, Sullivan DM, Turner J, Ross DD. Novel 5' untranslated region variants of BCRP mRNA are differentially expressed in drug-selected cancer cells and in normal human tissues: implications for drug resistance, tissue-specific expression, and alternative promoter usage. Cancer Research 66 (10), 5007–5011, 2006.
- Nakayama K, Kanzaki A, Ogawa K, Miyazaki K, Neamati N, Takebayashi Y. Coppertransporting P-type adenosine triphosphatase (ATP7B) as a cisplatin based chemoresistance marker in ovarian carcinoma: comparative analysis with expression of MDR1, MRP1, MRP2, LRP and BCRP. International Journal of Cancer 101 (5), 488–495, 2002.
- O'Brien CA, Pollett A, Gallinger S, Dick JE. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. Nature 445 (7123), 106–110, 2007.

- Olempska M, Eisenach PA, Ammerpohl O, Ungefroren H, Fandrich F, Kalthoff H. Detection of tumor stem cell markers in pancreatic carcinoma cell lines. Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Diseases International 6 (1), 92–97, 2007.
- Pan YZ, Morris ME, Yu AM. MicroRNA-328 negatively regulates the expression of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) in human cancer cells. Molecular Pharmacology 75 (6), 1374–1379, 2009.
- Pascal LE, Oudes AJ, Petersen TW, Goo YA, Walashek LS, True LD, Liu AY. Molecular and cellular characterization of ABCG2 in the prostate. BMC Urology 7, 6, 2007.
- Plasschaert SL, van der Kolk DM, de Bont ES, Kamps WA, Morisaki K, Bates SE, Scheffer GL, Scheper RJ, Vellenga E, de Vries EG. The role of breast cancer resistance protein in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Clinical Cancer Research 9 (14), 5171–5177, 2003.
- Polgar O, Robey RW, Bares SE. ABCG2: structure, function and role in drug response. Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism and Toxicology 4 (1), 1–15, 2008.
- Prince ME, Sivanandan R, Kaczorowski A, Wolf GT, Kaplan MJ, Dalerba P, Weissman IL, Clarke MF, Ailles LE. Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104 (3), 973–978, 2007.
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature 414 (6859), 105–111, 2001.
- Robey RW, Honjo Y, Morisaki K, Nadjem TA, Runge S, Risbood M, Poruchynsky MS, Bates SE. Mutations at amino-acid 482 in the ABCG2 gene affect substrate and antagonist specificity. British Journal of Cancer 89 (10), 1971–1978, 2003.
- Robey RW, Steadman K, Polgar O, Morisaki K, Blayney M, Mistry P, Bates SE. Pheophorbide a is a specific probe for ABCG2 function and inhibition. Cancer Research 64 (4), 1242–1246, 2004.
- Robey RW, Polgar O, Deeken J, To KW, Bates SE. ABCG2: determining its relevance in clinical drug resistance. Cancer and Metastasis Reviews 26 (1), 39–57, 2007.
- Rocchi E, Khodjakov A, Volk EL, Yang CH, Litman T, Bates SE, Schneider E. The product of the ABC half-transporter gene ABCG2 (BCRP/MXR/ABCP) is expressed in the plasma membrane. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 271 (1), 42–46, 2000.
- Ross DD, Nakanishi T. Impact of breast cancer resistance protein on cancer treatment outcomes. Methods in Molecular Biology 596, 251–290, 2010.
- Sauerbrey A, Sell W, Steinbach D, Voigt A, Zintl F. Expression of the BCRP gene (ABCG2/ MXR/ABCP) in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. British Journal of Haematology 118 (1), 147–150, 2002.
- Scharenberg CW, Harkey MA, Torok-Storb B. The ABCG2 transporter is an efficient Hoechst 33342 efflux pump and is preferentially expressed by immature human hematopoietic progenitors. Blood 99 (2), 507–512, 2002.
- Schinkel AH, Jonker JW. Mammalian drug efflux transporters of the ATP binding cassette (ABC) family: an overview. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 55 (1), 3–29, 2003.
- Seigel GM, Campbell LM, Narayan M, Gonzalez-Fernandez F. Cancer stem cell characteristics in retinoblastoma. Molecular Vision 11 (86–87), 729–737, 2005.
- Shi GM, Xu Y, Fan J, Zhou J, Yang XR, Qiu SJ, Liao Y, Wu WZ, Ji Y, Ke AW, Ding ZB, He YZ, Wu B, Yang GH, Qin WZ, Zhang W, Zhu J, Min ZH, Wu ZQ. Identification of side population cells in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines with stepwise metastatic potentials. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology 134 (11), 1155–1163, 2008.
- Sims-Mourtada J, Izzo JG, Ajani J, Chao KS. Sonic Hedgehog promotes multiple drug resistance by regulation of drug transport. Oncogene 26 (38), 5674–5679, 2007.
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelman RM, Cusimano MD, Dirks PB. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432 (7015), 396–401, 2004.
- Steinbach D, Sell W, Voigt A, Hermann J, Zintl F, Sauerbrey A. BCRP gene expression is associated with a poor response to remission induction therapy in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 16 (8), 1443–1447, 2002.
- Summer R, Kotton DN, Sun X, Ma B, Fitzsimmons K, Fine A. Side population cells and Bcrp1 expression in lung. American Journal of Physiology – Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 285 (1), L97–L104, 2003.
- Susanto J, Lin YH, Chen YN, Shen CR, Yan YT, Tsai ST, Chen CH, Shen CN. Porphyrin homeostasis maintained by ABCG2 regulates self-renewal of embryonic stem cells. PLoS One 3 (12), e4023, 2008.
- Takada T, Suzuki H, Gotoh Y, Sugiyama Y. Regulation of the cell surface expression of human BCRP/ABCG2 by the phosphorylation state of Akt in polarized cells. Drug Metabolism and Disposition 33 (7), 905–909, 2005.
- Tirino V, Desiderio V, d'Aquino R, De Francesco F, Pirozzi G, Galderisi U, Cavaliere C, De Rosa A, Papaccio G. Detection and characterization of CD133+ cancer stem cells in human solid tumours. PLoS One 3 (10), e3469, 2008.
- To KK, Zhan Z, Bates SE. Aberrant promoter methylation of the ABCG2 gene in renal carcinoma. Molecular and Cellular Biology 26 (22), 8572–8585, 2006.
- Do KK, Polgar O, Huff LM, Morisaki K, Bates SE. Histone modifications at the ABCG2 promoter following treatment with histone deacetylase inhibitor mirror those in multidrug-resistant cells. Molecular Cancer Research 6 (1), 151–164, 2008a.
- To KK, Zhan Z, Litman T, Bates SE. Regulation of ABCG2 expression at the 3' untranslated region of its mRNA through modulation of transcript stability and protein translation by a putative microRNA in the S1 colon cancer cell line. Molecular and Cellular Biology 28 (17), 5147–5161, 2008b.
- Tsunoda S, Okumura T, Ito T, Kondo K, Ortiz C, Tanaka E, Watanabe G, Itami A, Sakai Y, Shimada Y. ABCG2 expression is an independent unfavorable prognostic factor in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncology 71 (3–4), 251–258, 2006.
- Van Herwaarden AE, Jonker JW, Wagenaar E, Brinkhuis RF, Schellens JH, Beijnen JH, Schinkel AH. The breast cancer resistance protein (Bcrp1/Abcg2) restricts exposure to the dietary carcinogen 2-amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo-[4, 5-b]pyridine. Cancer Research 63 (19), 6447–6452, 2003.

- Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. Nature Reviews Cancer 8 (10), 755–768, 2008.
- Vlaming ML, Lagas JS, Schinkel AH. Physiological and pharmacological roles of ABCG2 (BCRP): recent findings in Abcg2 knockout mice. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 61 (1), 14–25, 2009.
- Wang HG, Zhou L, Gupta A, Vethanayagam RR, Zhang Y, Unadkat JD, Mao QC. Regulation of BCRP/ABCG2 expression by progesterone and 17 beta-estradiol in human placental BeWo cells. American Journal of Physiology — Endocrinology and Metabolism 290 (5), E798–E807, 2006.
- Wang J, Guo UP, Chen LZ, Zeng YX, Lu SH. Identification of cancer stem cell-like side population cells in human nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line. Cancer Research 67 (8), 3716–3724, 2007.
- Wang HG, Lee EW, Zhou L, Leung P, Ross DD, Unadkat JD, Mao Q. Progesterone receptor (PR) isoforms PRA and PRB differentially regulate expression of the breast cancer resistance protein in human placental choriocarcinoma BeWo cells. Molecular Pharmacology 73 (3), 845–854, 2008a.
- Wang HG, Unadkat JD, Mao QC. Hormonal regulation of BCRP expression in human placental BeWo cells. Pharmaceutical Research 25 (2), 444–452, 2008b.
- Wang YH, Li F, Luo B, Wang XH, Sun HC, Liu S, Cui YQ, Xu XX. A side population of cells from a human pancreatic carcinoma cell line harbors cancer stem cell characteristics. Neoplasma 56 (5), 371–378, 2009.
- Watanabe K, Nishida K, Yamato M, Umemoto T, Sumide T, Yamamoto K, Maeda N, Watanabe H, Okano T, Tano Y. Human limbal epithelium contains side population cells expressing the ATP-binding cassette transporter ABCG2. FEBS Letters 565 (1– 3), 6–10, 2004.
- Woehlecke H, Pohl A, Alder-Baerens N, Lage H, Herrmann A. Enhanced exposure of phosphatidylserine in human gastric carcinoma cells overexpressing the half-size ABC transporter BCRP (ABCG2). Biochemical Journal 376 (2), 489–495, 2003.
- Xi Z, Jiang CP, Ding YT. Expression of stem cell marker ABCG2 and its significance in hepatocellular carcinoma tissue and cell lines. World Chinese Journal of Digestology 17 (3), 247–252, 2009.

- Yin L, Castagnino P, Assoian RK. ABCG2 expression and side population abundance regulated by a transforming growth factor beta-directed epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Research 68 (3), 800–807, 2008.
- Yoh K, Ishii G, Yokose T, Minegishi Y, Tsuta K, Goto K, Nishiwaki Y, Kodama T, Suga M, Ochiai A. Breast cancer resistance protein impacts clinical outcome in platinumbased chemotherapy for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Clinical Cancer Research 10 (5), 1691–1697, 2004.
- Zen Y, Fujii T, Yoshikawa S, Takamura H, Tani T, Ohta T, Nakanuma Y. Histological and culture studies with respect to ABCG2 expression support the existence of a cancer cell hierarchy in human hepatocellular carcinoma. American Journal of Pathology 170 (5), 1750–1762, 2007.
- Zhang P, Zhang Y, Mao L, Zhang Z, Chen W. Side population in oral squamous cell carcinoma possesses tumor stem cell phenotypes. Cancer Letters 277 (2), 227–234, 2009.
- Zhou S, Schuetz JD, Bunting KD, Colapietro AM, Sampath J, Morris JJ, Lagutina I, Grosveld GC, Osawa M, Nakauchi H, Sorrentino BP. The ABC transporter Bcrp1/ABCG2 is expressed in a wide variety of stem cells and is a molecular determinant of the sidepopulation phenotype. Nature Medicine 7 (9), 1028–1034, 2001.
- Zhou S, Morris JJ, Barnes YX, Lan L, Schuetz JD, Sorrentino BP. Bcrp1 gene expression is required for normal numbers of side population stem cells in mice, and confers relative protection to mitoxantrone in hematopoietic cells in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99 (19), 12339–12344, 2002.
- Zhou S, Zong Y, Lu TH, Sorrentino BP. Hematopoietic cells from mice that are deficient in both Bcrp1/Abcg2 and Mdr1a/1b develop normally but are sensitized to mitoxantrone. Biotechniques 35 (6), 1248–1252, 2003.